IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

May 19 2021

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001337
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-18-01571

Progressive Direct Insurance Co., and
USAA General Indemnity Company,Petitioners,

v.

Shanna Groves as the Personal Representative of the
Estate of Lynn Harrison.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 100229
J.R. Murphy, Esquire
S.C. Bar # 100229
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
wsawyer@murphygrantland.com
jrmurphy@murphygrantland.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (I) Whether injuries resulting from the intentional firing of a gun are foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile?
- (II) If so, whether firing a gun from one stationary vehicle into another stationary vehicle constitutes an act of independent significance that breaks any causal connection with the use of an automobile?
- (III) Whether the Court of Appeals erred by improperly shifting the burden of proof to Petitioners and by finding facts that were not in the record?

SUMMARY

Automobile insurance policies insure against injuries caused by the ownership, maintenance or use of an automobile. On April 2, 2015, Jimi Carl Redman stopped his vehicle at a red light beside Lynn Harrison's vehicle, pointed a rifle out of his driver's side window, fired a shot into Harrison's vehicle, and drove away. The bullet struck and killed Harrison. As a result, her estate sought uninsured motorist (UM) coverage from Petitioners Progressive and USAA.

In *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Aytes*, 332 S.C. 30, 33, 503 S.E.2d 744, 745-46 (1998), this Court held automobile insurance only applies to injuries that are "foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile." Then, in *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Bookert*, 337 S.C. 291, 293, 523 S.E.2d 181, 182 (2000), this Court held injuries from the intentional firing of a gun were not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile. Relying on these two cases, the Circuit Court below granted Petitioners Progressive's and USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Court of Appeals below reversed. In doing so, the Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's holding in *Bookert*. In addition, the Court of Appeals failed to identify any normal use of a vehicle that would have caused Harrison's gunshot injuries. Harrison was not killed by the mechanical forces associated with a moving vehicle, while avoiding another vehicle, or in any

other way connected with the normal function of an automobile as an automobile. She was tragically killed by a bullet, not a car.

Although *Bookert* is dispositive, Harrison's Estate falls short on several other elements of the *Aytes* test. Specifically, when Redman shot Harrison, both vehicles were stopped. They were sitting at a red light. Thus, Redman's vehicle was merely the site from which he fired the shot. Also, Redman's acts of pulling out the rifle, aiming it at Harrison, and firing – all after stopping his vehicle – were acts of independent significance that broke any causal connection with the use of the vehicle. He could just as easily have put his car in park, stepped out, and fired the shot. Therefore, Harrison's injuries do not arise out of Redman's ownership, maintenance or use of an auto.

In addition to failing to properly apply *Aytes* and *Bookert*, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of review. First, the Court of Appeals found facts that were not in the record and even created a new "fact" that had never been argued in the case. The Court of Appeals then relied on those facts in supporting its conclusions. Second, the Court of Appeals improperly shifted the burden of proof to Petitioners. For all these reasons, the Court of Appeals' decision should be reversed, and the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Progressive filed this declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration that Harrison's injuries and resulting death did not arise out of Redman's ownership, maintenance, or use of an automobile. (R. p. 12). When the Estate submitted a claim under a USAA policy, Petitioners filed an Amended Complaint adding USAA. (R. p. 16).

On August 17, 2017, the Circuit Court issued a thorough Order granting Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying the Estate's cross motion. (R. pp. 3-9). The evidence before the Circuit Court depicted a narrow window of time:

This case arises from a shooting incident that occurred when Redman pulled up at a red light beside an automobile operated by Lynn Harrison, pointed a rifle at her, shot her, and drove away. At some point prior to the shooting, Redman pulled next to Harrison and began making hand gestures and blowing kisses towards Harrison as they approached the red light where the shooting occurred. There is no evidence that Harrison was aware of Redman's conduct. *While stopped at the red light*, Redman pointed a rifle at Harrison and fired in her direction, striking her in the neck. Harrison died as a result of the shooting.

(R. pp. 2-3) (emphasis added). Applying the three-factor test established in *Aytes*, the Circuit Court found Harrison's injuries did not arise out of Redman's ownership, maintenance or use of an auto because there was no causal connection between Redman's use of the auto and Harrison's injuries.

First, the Circuit Court held Redman's auto was not an "active accessory" to the assault because "Redman did not use his automobile to keep up with Harrison and did not make contact with her vehicle. There also is no evidence Harrison saw Redman driving beside her or that she was aware of Redman's gestures towards her. There was no attempt by Harrison to evade Redman." (R. p. 6).

Second, the Circuit Court found Redman's vehicle was merely the site from which he fired the gun. (R. p. 6).

Third, applying this Court's decision in *Bookert*, the Circuit Court held Harrison's gunshot injuries were not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto. (R. p. 7).

In the alternative, even if the vehicle had been an active accessory to the shooting, the Circuit Court found Redman's act of shooting a rifle out of a stationary vehicle broke any causal

connection with his use of the vehicle. (R. p. 8). For all these reasons, the Circuit Court granted Progressive's and USAA's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Estate filed a timely Notice of Appeal. After briefing, the Court of Appeals scheduled oral arguments. However, oral arguments were cancelled due to the Covid crisis. On July 22, 2020, the Court of Appeals issued an Opinion reversing the Circuit Court. (App. p. 188-203). The Court of Appeals adopted factual findings that were contrary to the Circuit Court's factual determinations. For example, the Court of Appeals found Redman used his vehicle to "closely pursue" Harrison and that he used the vehicle to "conceal" his rifle. (App. pp. 194-196). Moreover, the Court of Appeals rejected the Circuit Court's finding that there was no evidence Harrison was aware of Redman. (App. pp. 194-195).

After making new factual findings that were outside the Record on Appeal, the Court of Appeals rejected this Court's holding in *Bookert*, deciding that *Bookert* was limited to its facts. (App. p. 201). Instead, the Court of Appeals relied heavily on *Wausau Underwriters Insurance Company v. Howser*, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992) and *Home Insurance Company v. Towe*, 314 S.C. 105, 441 S.E.2d 825 (1994), cases that predated the "normal use" element adopted in *Aytes* and applied in *Bookert*. Although *Howser* predated *Aytes* by six years, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the shooting here must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto because the Court in *Howser* found gunshot injuries arose out of the use of an auto. (App. p. 201).

Relying on its findings of facts that were contrary to the Circuit Court's Order, the Court of Appeals also held Redman's act of pointing a rifle out of his window and shooting at Redman after the two vehicles were stopped at the red light was not an act of independent significance. (App. p. 202-203). Specifically, the Court of Appeals found the use of the vehicle to "closely

pursue” Harrison and to “conceal” the rifle in the process created and maintained a sufficient causal connection with the vehicle.

On August 5, 2020, Petitioners filed a timely Petition for Rehearing and Rehearing *en banc*, which the Court of Appeals denied on September 10, 2020. (App. p. 204-224). Petitioners filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to this Court on October 8, 2020, which this Court granted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The shooting.

On April 2, 2015, Lynn Harrison operated a vehicle and stopped at a red light in the middle lane of Old Trolley Road at the intersection of Bacons Bridge Road in Summerville. (R. pp. 84, 89). At the same time, Jimi Carl Redman drove his vehicle to the same stop light in the right-hand lane. (R. pp. 84, 89). Redman and Harrison were complete strangers. (R. pp. 85, 89).

One witness indicated she saw Redman blowing kisses and making hand gestures to Harrison as the two vehicles approached the red light. (R. p. 97). As the Circuit Court correctly held, there is no evidence Harrison was aware of Redman. (R. p. 4). In fact, it is undisputed that Lynn Harrison was operating her vehicle in a normal fashion as she approached and stopped at the red light. (R. p. 98). There is also no evidence in the record of what took place before the two vehicles were approaching the stop light.

After both vehicles and traffic behind them stopped for the light, Redman stuck a rifle out of his driver’s side window and pointed it at Harrison. (R. pp. 85, 89). Once again, there is no evidence Harrison was ever aware of Redman. She did not proceed through the intersection or take any other evasive action. (R. pp. 85, 89). Redman fired a single shot. The bullet went through the passenger window of Harrison’s vehicle and struck her in the neck, causing her death. (R. pp. 85, 89). Neither vehicle was in motion at the time of the shooting. (R. pp. 85, 89).

Redman then disregarded the red light, proceeded through the intersection, and was apprehended a few blocks away. (R. pp. 85, 89). Because her vehicle was still in drive at the time of the shooting, Harrison's vehicle proceeded slowly through the intersection until it came to rest on the median. (R. pp. 85, 89).

The vehicles operated by Redman and Harrison never made contact. (R. pp. 85, 89). There is no evidence that Harrison and Redman knew each other prior to the shooting. (R. pp. 85, 89). Harrison's injuries resulted solely from the use of the rifle.

Redman was charged with murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. At the time of the summary judgment hearing, those charges were still pending. The Public Index indicates Redman has since pled guilty.¹ Redman's vehicle either was not insured or was underinsured at the time of the shooting.² (R. pp. 86, 89).

B. The policies.

Progressive issued a South Carolina motorcycle insurance policy to Lynn Harrison's husband, James M. Harrison. (R. pp. 38-41). USAA issued a South Carolina auto policy to James M. Harrison. (R. pp. 42-49). Both policies were in force at the time of the shooting, and both policies included UM coverage. Lynn Harrison lived with her husband at the time of the shooting. (R. pp. 84, 88).

¹ Redman's guilty plea is not in the Record on Appeal. This information is provided for the Court's reference, but whether Redman's charges are pending or not is irrelevant to any matter before the Court on cert.

² The Court of Appeals held both policies provided both uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage. That finding is incorrect. The Progressive policy did not include underinsured motorist coverage.

Both policies limited UM coverage to liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of an uninsured vehicle by an uninsured motorist. The Progressive policy provided in relevant part:

If you pay the premium for this coverage, we will pay for damages that an insured person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of:

1. an uninsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury:
 - a. sustained by an insured person;
 - b. caused by an accident; *and*
 - c. *arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of an uninsured motor vehicle; . . .*

(R. p. 41) (emphasis added). Likewise, the USAA policy states:

A. UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE

We will pay the following damages which a covered person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle because of an auto accident:

1. BI [Bodily Injury] sustained by a covered person; and
2. injury to or destruction of the property of a covered person.

The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the uninsured motor vehicle.

(R. p. 48) (emphasis added). Therefore, the policies do not provide coverage unless Redman's liability arises out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of his auto.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the trial court’s decision to grant summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court.” *Ray v. Austin*, 388 S.C. 605, 610-11, 698 S.E.2d 208, 211 (2010) (citation omitted). Pursuant to Rule 56(c), summary judgment is appropriate if “there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party is entitled to

prevail as a matter of law.” *Id.* Although the court must view any material disputes of fact in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, a non-moving party “must do more than rely on mere allegations.” *Walton v. Mazda of Rock Hill*, 376 S.C. 301, 308, 657 S.E.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted).

As the party seeking coverage, the Estate bears the burden of proving Harrison’s injuries arise out of Redman’s ownership, maintenance, or use of his automobile. *See, e.g., Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Edwards*, 294 S.C. 368, 370, 364 S.E.2d 750, 751 (1988) (holding party seeking coverage must establish facts for coverage); *Garrett v. Pilot Life Ins. Co.*, 241 S.C. 299, 303, 128 S.E.2d 171, 173 (1962) (“[T]he insured had the burden of showing that his injury was covered by the terms of the policy.”). “The plain language of Rule 56(c), SCRCP, mandates the entry of summary judgment . . . against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” *CEL Products, LLC v. Rozelle*, 357 S.C. 125, 129, 357 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2004) (citation omitted). Thus, Petitioners were entitled to summary judgment if the Estate failed to make a factual showing to satisfy each element of the *Aytes* test. A party “cannot create a genuine issue of material fact through mere speculation or the building of one inference upon another.” *Beale v. Hardy*, 769 F.2d 213, 213 (4th Cir. 1985) (cited favorably in *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 353, 827 S.E.2d 178, 182 (Ct. App. 2019)).

ARGUMENT

Injuries from the intentional firing of a gun are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile. This rule, adopted by the Court in *Bookert*, has been adopted by a majority of courts across the country. Simply put, the normal use of an automobile does not result in gunshot injuries.

While Harrison’s injuries are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto, this is only one of multiple defects in the Estate’s UM claim. Redman’s vehicle had no active role in the shooting. When Redman pointed the rifle out of his window, aimed, and fired, his vehicle was stationary, and so was Harrison’s. The vehicle was merely the place from which he fired the rifle. To the extent Redman used his vehicle in connection with the shooting, that use ended when both vehicles stopped at the red light. Only then did Redman proceed to point the rifle at Harrison and fire. These actions by Redman broke any purported connection between his use of the vehicle and Harrison’s injuries.

Perhaps because of the tragic circumstances, the Court of Appeals found “facts” outside of the Record on Appeal to support its decision. In particular, the Court of Appeals found Redman used his vehicle to “conceal” the rifle and used his vehicle to “closely pursue” Harrison. Those facts are not in the record. To the contrary, there is no evidence of a pursuit, and neither party even suggested to the courts below that Redman concealed the rifle. The Court of Appeals also shifted the burden to Petitioners even though the Estate must prove the injuries arose out of Redman’s ownership, maintenance or use of a vehicle. By forming facts that were not in the record and shifting the burden of proof, the Court of Appeals went well beyond its standard of review.

The Circuit Court correctly applied this Court’s precedent in *Aytes* and *Bookert* and found Harrison’s injuries did not arise out of Redman’s use of a vehicle. The Court of Appeals erred when it held otherwise.

I. The Estate failed to meet its burden under the *Aytes* causal connection test because Redman’s use of a gun – not his use of an automobile – caused Harrison’s injuries.

The Progressive and USAA policies provide UM coverage only if Harrison’s injuries “arise out of” Redman’s “ownership, maintenance or use of an automobile.” (R. pp. 41, 48). In *Aytes*, this Court established the modern standard for determining whether injuries arise out of the

ownership, maintenance, or use of an auto. First, the party seeking coverage must prove a causal connection between the vehicle and the injury. *Aytes*, 332 S.C. at 33, 503 S.E.2d at 745. Second, there must be no act of independent significance that breaks the causal link. *Id.* Third, the vehicle must be used for transportation at the time of the incident. *Id.*

In order to prove the first causal connection element, the Estate must establish three subfactors: (1) the vehicle was an “active accessory” to the assault; (2) the vehicle was more than the mere site of the injury, even if not the proximate cause; and (3) “[t]he injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicle.” *Bookert*, 337 S.C. at 293, 523 S.E.2d at 182 (citation omitted). Failure of any one of these elements is fatal to the Estate’s claim. Here, the Estate’s claim fails each subfactor of the causal connection requirement.

First and foremost, Harrison’s injuries were not caused by any normal use of an automobile. Redman intentionally fired a rifle at Harrison, and it was this action that caused her injuries. There is no normal use of an automobile that involves the intentional firing of a gun. Therefore, the injuries are not causally related to Redman’s use of his automobile.

Even if the Estate could identify how a normal use of Redman’s automobile caused Harrison’s gunshot injuries, the Estate failed to present evidence showing Redman’s vehicle was an “active accessory” to Harrison’s injuries. Instead, his use of the vehicle was only incidental to the shooting, with his stationary vehicle merely being the site from which he fired. Therefore, the Estate fails to meet its burden of establishing the first element of the *Aytes* test.

a. Gunshot injuries from an assault are not foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an automobile.

This Court in *Bookert* specifically held injuries from the intentional firing of a gun do not arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a vehicle. In normal use, vehicles do not fire

bullets. Harrison was injured by a bullet fired from a rifle, not a car. Therefore, her injuries do not arise out Redman's use of an auto.

The Court of Appeals erroneously sidestepped *Bookert* by holding that case was limited to its facts. Instead, the Court of Appeals relied on the earlier decision in *Howser* to find Harrison's injuries were foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of an auto. However, the *Howser* case did not address the "normal use" sub-factor. "[T]he South Carolina Supreme Court did not consider the foreseeability of the victim's injuries in *Howser*" *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Jeter*, 2013 WL 3109214, *3 (D.S.C. June 18, 2013). Thus, *Howser* does not provide any guidance on the "normal use" test. More importantly, the Court of Appeals below never identified any normal use by which an auto could cause Harrison's bullet wound.

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