THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 18 2021**

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001337  
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-18-01571

---

Progressive Direct Insurance Co. and  
USAA General Indemnity Company ..... Petitioners,

v.

Shanna Groves as the Personal Representative  
Of the Estate of Lynn Harrison ..... Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
**SHANNA GROVES AS THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF**  
**LYNN HARRISON**

---

John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar # 79130)  
WALKER GRESSETTE FREEMAN & LINTON, LLC

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

<sup>10</sup> See, e.g., Kessler v. Amica Mut. Ins. Co., 573 So. 2d 476, 478 (La. 1991) (describing the applicable test under Louisiana law for determining whether an arising-out-of-use provision has been met to be: (1) whether the conduct of the uninsured to be a legal cause, or cause-in fact, of the plaintiff’s injury; (2) whether the conduct was a breach of a legal duty imposed to protect against the particular risk involved; and (3) a use of the automobile); State Farm Mut. Ins. Co. v. Spotten, 610 N.E.2d 299, 302 (Ind. Ct. App. 3d. 1993) (analyzing coverage based upon the risks expressly contemplated by the parties based upon the terms of the insurance contract, which, in that case only entitled the insured recovery of damages the insured was ‘legally entitled to collect from the owner or driver of an uninsured motor vehicle’ and the assailant was a passenger) (emphasis in original); Ramirez v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 331 Ill. App. 3d 77, 85, 771 N.E.2d 619, 626 (App. Ct. 2d Dist. 2002) (“[W]e believe that the appropriate analysis for construing ‘arising out of’ language in the context of uninsured motorist provisions of an automobile policy is the reasonable contemplation test.”). Petitioner also cites the Missouri case of Ward v. International Indemnity Co., 897 S.W.2d 627 (Mo. Ct. App. E.D. 1995). Missouri’s law is best summarized in Stosberg v. Electric Ins. Co., -- S.W. 3d --, 2021 WL 445988, \*5 (Mo. Ct. App. W.D. Feb. 9, 2021) (“For an accident causing injury to ‘arise out of the use’ of a vehicle, the purpose for which the vehicle is being employed must be consistent with the vehicle’s inherent nature, and must create a condition which contributes to cause the accident.”).

of the use of an automobile.

Further, it is worth noting that Petitioner does not discuss that numerous out of state cases that are contrary to cases it relies upon. See, e.g., Barncastle v. Am. Nat. Prop. & Cas. Companies, 2000-NMCA-095, 129 N.M. 672, 11 P.3d 1234 (N.M. 2000) (claimant was entitled to uninsured motorist (UM) benefits for injuries he suffered when unidentified passenger of unidentified vehicle shot him as he sat in driver's seat of insured vehicle at intersection; assailant's vehicle was "active accessory" in attack because assailant's driver used it to get into position where assailant could shoot and then to escape scene at high rate of speed, no act of independent significance broke the causal chain, and vehicle in which assailant was riding was put to its normal use in driving alongside claimant.); Cung La v. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co., 830 P.2d 1007, 1011 (Colo. 1992) ("Here, the fact that the firearm contributed to the injuries does not preclude the requisite causal connection. Evidence was presented that it was more than incidental that the assailant was inside a vehicle when he shot the petitioner. At the time the shooting occurred, both the assailant's vehicle and the petitioner's vehicle were proceeding on I-70. Without a vehicle and the assistance of two other vehicles, the assailant would not have been able to restrict the movement of the Mustang and shoot the petitioner."); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. McMillan, 925 P.2d 785, 795 (Colo. 1996); Abercrombie v. Georgia Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 216 Ga. App. 602, 604, 454 S.E.2d 813, 815 (1995) ("The movement of the vehicle was integral to, and enabled, the assault. It was not merely incidental; it was inextricably linked. The vehicle was being used for transportation at the time of the shooting and the driving of it facilitated the attack."); Cont'l W. Ins. Co. v. Klug, 415 N.W.2d 876 (Minn. 1987) (The assailant's car was an active accessory to the assault; the assailant used his car to keep up with the victim for over 2 miles in order to shoot the victim. The court also found that no act of independent significance occurred to break the causal link. The

assailant's driving and shooting were inextricably linked, and there were no intervening acts by the assailant, for example, driving ahead of the victim, stopping, leaving his vehicle and shooting the victim, which would break the causal chain); De Zafra v. Farmers Ins. Co., 270 Or. App. 77, 85, 346 P.3d 652, 657 (2015) (“We conclude that ORS 742.504(1)(a) requires UM coverage when the injury arises out of the use of an uninsured vehicle and that coverage cannot be denied based on an interpretation that the gunshots were the ‘direct cause’ of injury.”); Stevens v. MAPFRE Ins./Com. Ins. Co., No. BRCV2018309, 2019 WL 2565235, at \*5 (Mass. Super. Apr. 5, 2019) (“Here, there was a causal relationship between Holloman's use of his uninsured vehicle and Stevens's injuries. Holloman shot in Stevens's direction while operating his uninsured vehicle. It is reasonable to infer that without the use of his uninsured automobile, Holloman would not have been able to keep up with Stevens, who was driving thirty-five to forty miles per hour, in order to inflict his injuries.”).<sup>11</sup>

Therefore, out of state opinions further support a ruling affirming the Court of Appeals.

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled, based upon the undisputed facts, that the Circuit Court erred in finding no causal connection exists because Redman’s vehicle was an active accessory to the assault upon Harrison, the vehicle was more than the situs of Harrison’s injuries, and the injuries suffered by Harrison were foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicles.**

A causal connection exists between the vehicle and the injury when the following elements are satisfied: “(a) the vehicle was an ‘active accessory’ to the assault; and (b) something less than

---

<sup>11</sup> There are also out-of-state cases that conflict with Bookert. See, e.g., Certification From United States Dist. Court ex rel. Western Dist. of Washington v. GEICO Ins. Co., 366 P.3d 1237, 1241, 184 Wash.2d 925, 934 (Wash. 2016); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Blystra, 86 F.3d 1007, 1009 (10th Cir. 1996). While overruling Bookert is unnecessary to affirm the Court of Appeals decision in this case, such a decision as an additional affirming ground would be sound. The test that has developed in South Carolina goes far beyond the statutory language requiring coverage for injuries arising out of the “use” of an uninsured automobile. Even in the Bookert “drive-by-shooting” scenario, the automobile is being used at the time of the injuries.

proximate cause but more than mere site of the injury; and (c) that the ‘injury must be foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of [the vehicle].’” State Farm Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bookert, 337 S.C. 291, 293, 523 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1999) (citing State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aytes, 332 S.C. 30, 33, 503 S.E.2d 744, 745-46 (1998)); Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Howser, 309 S.C. 269, 272, 422 S.E.2d 106, 108 (1992). In considering whether a causal connection exists between the injuries and the vehicle “[n]o distinction is made as to whether the injury resulted from a negligent, reckless, or intentional act.” Wright v. North Area Taxi, Inc., 337 S.C. 419, 424, 523 S.E.2d 472, 474 (Ct. App.1999) (citing Home Ins. Co. v. Towe, 314 S.C. 105, 107, 441 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1994)).

a. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Redman’s vehicle was an active accessory to the assault carried out upon Harrison.

Petitioner asserts the Court of Appeals should be reversed because, according to Petitioners, Redman’s vehicle was not an “active accessory” to Harrison’s injuries. Petitioner asserts this case is analogous to Holmes v. Allstate Ins. Co., which involved a “drive by shooting.” 786 F. Supp. 2d 1022 (D.S.C. 2009).<sup>12</sup> In Holmes, the assailant, an estranged lover, found his victim “parked on the side of the road awaiting the arrival of the school bus,” fired multiple shots into the victim’s *parked* car, and drove away. Id. at 1024. The district court found that the assailant’s vehicle was not an active accessory to the crime. Significantly, the district court explained that victim was not “traveling in her vehicle at the time Williams fired the gun.” Id.

Here, it is undisputed that Harrison was driving her vehicle at the time of the shooting and thus Redman’s position in relation to Harrison was completely dependent upon Redman’s use of

---

<sup>12</sup> In Holmes, our district court discussed Howser and Towe in great detail but ultimately found “after careful consideration, . . . the events underlying this dispute” did not invoke the conclusions reached in either Howser or Towe. Id. at 1026.

his vehicle. There is no way that Redman would have been able to make repeated gestures to Harrison if he were not in a vehicle that could keep with the speed in which she was traveling. Nor would it have been possible for him to keep up with her until the next intersection so that he would be in a position to shoot her at the stop light. In fact, even after the shooting, Harrison's vehicle continued on the roadway until it came to rest. (**App. 102-03**). In Howser, the Court found that because the both vehicles were being driven at the time of the assault, "it [wa]s apparent that the unknown vehicle was an active accessory to this assault." Howser, 309 S.C. at 273, 422 S.E.2d at 108. Unlike in Howser (and this case), the victim in Holmes was not "traveling in her vehicle at the time" the assailant fired the gun. Holmes, at 1026–27.<sup>13</sup> As stated above, in this case there is no dispute that both vehicles were in drive and being operated at the time the shots fired. As discussed in more detail below, Redman also used his vehicle to accomplish the shooting and could not have physically carried out the act without the use of his vehicle. Therefore, the Court of Appeals, based upon the undisputed facts, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled Redman's vehicle was an active accessory to the assault.

- b. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Redman vehicle was not the mere situs of the shooting.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Redman's vehicle was not the mere situs of the assault. (**App. 198-200**). Petitioner, citing Wright v. North Area Taxi, Inc., 337 S.C. 419, 523

---

<sup>13</sup> In Holmes, the district court also found Howser distinguishable because "Williams did not use his vehicle to assault Plaintiff, as nothing in the record indicates that Plaintiff knew Williams was approaching her as she waited at the school bus stop or that Williams' vehicle ever made contact with Plaintiff's vehicle. Holmes, at 1026. While is true that there was physical contact between the two vehicles in Howser, that opinion explained that no injuries were caused by the contact. Howser, at 271, 107 ("The injuries that Howser sustained were the result of the gunshot. Neither Howser nor Shealy was hurt when the other vehicle bumped the Blazer."). No South Carolina case has found that physical contact between two vehicles is a prerequisite to a finding the assailant's vehicle was an active accessory to the assault.

S.E.2d 472 (Ct. App. 1999), asserts Redman's vehicle was nothing more than the site from which he fired. (**Pets.' Br. 20-23**).

In Wright, the assailants hailed a taxi, entered the taxi once the driver parked his car on the side of the road, and then shot the driver as he began driving. See id. at 422, 472. The vehicle's movement did not enable the gunman to carry out the attack, as the cabdriver's injuries "could have occurred when the vehicle was parked, or otherwise not moving, or when [the cabdriver] or gunmen were standing outside of the vehicle." Id. at 427, 472. As such, the injuries sustained by the cabdriver resulted from the assault by the gunmen and were unrelated to any functional use of the vehicle because the use of the vehicle was not essential to accomplishing the crime. Id. at 426-27, 523 S.E.2d at 472. Or, in other words, the taxi was just the situs of the shooting. See also, Aytes, 332 S.C. at 34-35, 503 S.E.2d at 746; Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Brown, 779 F.2d 984 (4th Cir. 1985).

This case is wholly different from these cases wherein the vehicle is the mere situs of a shooting, because Redman's ability to carry out the shooting was entirely dependent on the use of his vehicle to pursue, keep-up, and align with Harrison at the stop light and Harrison's was in a position to be injured. See Stevens v. MAPFRE Ins./Com. Ins. Co., No. BRCV2018309, 2019 WL 2565235, at \*5 (Mass. Super. Apr. 5, 2019) (finding it reasonable to infer that the assailant would not have been able to keep-up with the victim without the use of his vehicle). Additionally, unlike the gunman in Wright, Redman could not have accomplished the heinous act by stopping his vehicle, getting out, shooting Harrison, and driving away because he would not have been able keep-up with Harrison's position or position himself to align the same shot he took without the use of the vehicle. Furthermore, Harrison was not in the uninsured vehicle, so it can hardly be said that it was the situs of the injuries.

- c. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Harrison's injuries were foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the vehicles involved.

While this factor was extensively discussed in Section I *infra*, it is worth reiterating that it is wholly undisputed that both Redman and Harrison were operating their vehicles in a normal way at the time the injuries were sustained. See (App. 98, #7); (App. 84, #8); (App. 89, #8); (App. 98, #6); (App. 97, #2); (App. 97-98, #3); (App. 98, #8). Redman shot Harrison while both his vehicle and Harrison's were being operated, turned on and in drive. (App. 97-98, #3); (App. 98, #8) (Petitioners admitting that Redman's "vehicle was turned on and being operated, which includes applying the brakes of his vehicle in drive at a stop light, directly before the shooting, during the shooting, and right after the shooting."). Additionally, it is undisputed Redman shot Harrison while she was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion. (App. 97, #1) (Petitioners admitting that Redman was blowing kisses and making hand gestures toward Lynn Harrison while driving); (App. 98, #7) (It is uncontested that Harrison "was operating her vehicle in a normal and reasonably foreseeable fashion" at the time Redman fatally wounded her).

As discussed in Section I *infra*, the Court of Appeals correctly found that under these undisputed circumstances the injuries were foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of the automobile because Reman's use of his vehicle was required for him to keep pace with Harrison from the time he spotted her to the stoplight where he shot her. The facts of this case are analogous to Howser and Towe, but readily distinguishable from Bookert. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the factual differences and applied the valid, binding law to the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals' ruling was not in conflict with Bookert.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals did not rule, as Petitioners suggest, that a drive-by shooting, such as the one at issue in Bookert, is foreseeably identifiable with the normal use of a

vehicle. It is worth noting that some courts have recognized that a drive by shooting of a pedestrian, could arise out of the use of an automobile such that coverage is triggered. See generally, Certification From United States Dist. Court ex rel. Western Dist. of Washington v. GEICO Ins. Co., 366 P.3d 1237, 1241, 184 Wash.2d 925, 934 (Wash. 2016) (stating in a case involving a pedestrian shot in a drive-by shooting that “the rule our cases have established is that some causal connection exists when the events leading up to an injury involve vehicle use, unless the vehicle is merely the coincidental location of the accident.”); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Blystra, 86 F.3d 1007, 1009 (10th Cir. 1996) (applying New Mexico law and finding a pedestrian’s injuries from a drive-by shooting arose out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of the uninsured vehicle).

As has been stated, Redman could not have pursued Harrison but for the use of his automobile and Harrison’s automobile was in use throughout this incident. (App. 84, #8); (App. 89, #8); (App. 98, #7); (App.97, #1). That was not the case in Bookert. Therefore, the Opinion does not conflict with Bookert.

**III. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Redman’s act of shooting Harrison was not an intervening act of independent significance that broke the causal connection between the use of the vehicle and the assault when the use of the vehicle and the shooting were inextricably linked.**

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